

Signals Regulating Dormancy in Vegetative Buds

Wun S. Chao* • Michael E. Foley • David P. Horvath • James V. Anderson

Biosciences Research Laboratory, Plant Science Research, 1605 Albrecht Blvd., Fargo, ND 58105-5674, USA Corresponding author: * wun.chao@ars.usda.gov

ABSTRACT

Dormancy in plants involves a temporary suspension of meristem growth, thus insuring bud survival and maintenance of proper shoot system architecture. Dormancy regulation is a complex process involving interactions of various signals through specific and/or overlapping signal transduction pathways. In this review, environmental, physiological, and developmental signals affecting dormancy are discussed. Environmental signals such as temperature and light play crucial roles in regulating development and release of bud dormancy. Physiological signals including phytochrome, phytohormones, and sugar are associated with changes in dormancy status that occur when plants perceive environmental signals. Developmental signals such as flowering and senescence also have an effect on bud dormancy. Currently, many genes and/or gene products are known to be responsive directly or indirectly to these signals. The potential roles for these genes in dormancy progression are discussed.

Keywords: flowering, hormones, phytochrome, senescence, signaling, sugar, temperature Abbreviations: ABA, abscisic acid; ABI1-3, ABSCISIC ACID INSENSITIVE 1-3; CK, cytokinin; DAD1, DECREASED APICAL DOMINANCE1; IAA, indole-3-acetic acid; IPT, ADENOSINE PHOSPHATE-ISOPENTENYLTRANSFERASE; GA, gibberellic acid; MDS, MAX-dependent signal; MAX1-4, MORE AXILLARY GROWTH1-4; PHYA, phytochrome A; PIN1-4, PINOID1-4; RMS1-5, RAMOSUS1-5; SD, short day; SMS, shoot multiplication signal

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
ENVIRONMENTAL SIGNALS	
Temperature and light	
DEVELOPMENTAL SIGNALS	
Flowering	
Senescence	
PHYSIOLOGICAL SIGNALS	
Sugar	
Abscisic acid	
Gibberellic acid	
SD-induced growth cessation in trees	
Vegetative bud growth following dormancy release	
Auxin	
Ethylene	
Cytokinins	
CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PROSPECTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Dormancy helps to protect plants from unfavorable conditions and ensures appropriate architecture under favorable conditions. Dormancy has been described as the temporary suspension of visible growth of any plant structure containing a meristem (Lang *et al.* 1987). In vegetative buds, dormancy is further divided into three categories based on how growth is arrested. Ecodormancy takes place when growth is arrested by external environmental factors. Paradormancy (also known as correlative inhibition) occurs when growth is arrested by physiological factors external to the affected structure. Endodormancy (also known as innate dormancy) takes place when growth is arrested by internal physiological factors. Dormancy in vegetative buds has been studied in annual species like arabidopsis (*Arabidopsis thaliana* L.) and pea (*Pisum satvum* L.) and perennials including tubers of potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) and yam (*Dioscorea rotundata*); woody plants such as apple (*Pyrus malus* L.), grape (*Vitis vinifera* cv. 'Perlette'), birch (*Betula pendula*), and poplar/aspen (*Populus* spp.); and weeds such as leafy spurge (*Euphorbia esula* L.).

Signals originating from environmental, physiological, and developmental factors are involved in facilitating the well-defined phases of dormancy. Environmental signals such as temperature and light play crucial roles in regulating induction and release of bud dormancy. Physiological signals including phytochrome, sugar, and phytohormones are associated with direct phenotypic changes that occur when plants perceive environmental signals. Developmental pathways regulating flowering and senescence are receiving considerable attention in dormancy research due to crosstalk between signals affecting these pathways. In this context, under favorable growing conditions, plants perceive specific physiological signals from other organs/tissues to inhibit uncontrolled bud growth. Specific environmental signals can bring about endodormancy in anticipation of unfavorable conditions, which is important to maintain growth arrest during the transition between seasons (fall to winter or wet to dry). Paradoxically, extended unfavorable environmental conditions cause a transition from endodormancy to ecodormancy, which is important for bud survival during prolonged unfavorable conditions.

This review provides updated information on how these signals regulate dormancy induction and release. However, the information is undoubtedly linked to model plant systems used to perform the research. For example, in the case of paradormancy where much of the research was performed using pea and arabidopsis, similar signals affect bud outgrowth differently (Beveridge 2006; Dun *et al.* 2006). Since pea and arabidopsis are annuals, the information is only relevant to paradormancy. In contrast, woody perennials such as trees and shrubs can be used to study para, endo- and ecodormancy in primary and axillary buds. Finally, the herbaceous perennial leafy spurge has been used extensively to study well-defined phases of dormancy in underground adventitious buds (referred to in the literature as crown and root buds).

ENVIRONMENTAL SIGNALS

Temperature and light

Evidence suggests that dormancy induction and release in temperate climates is primarily regulated by cold temperatures and day length. However, the extent that these signals regulate dormancy induction, and the crosstalk between the signaling pathways regulated by these environmental cues appears to be largely species, and sometimes variety dependent. Short day (SD) conditions at normal growing temperatures commonly results in full endodormancy in many northern deciduous perennials including poplar (Howe et al. 1995; Jeknić and Chen 1999), birch (Li et al. 2004), red osier dogwood (Cornus stolonifera Michx) (Smithberg and Weiser 1968), wild grape (Vitus riparia) (Wake and Fennell 2000), and orpine (Sedum telephium) (Heide 2001), among others. Both cold and SD are required for dormancy induction in domesticated grape (Vitus ssp.) (Wake and Fennell 2000), Scotch heather (Calluna vulgaris L.) (Kwolek and Woolhouse 1982) and leafy spurge (Anderson et al. 2005). Occasionally, temperature alone can also induce dormancy in some species such as willow (Salix paraplesia), where it was also demonstrated that ecotypic differences resulted in differential responses to low temperatures (Li et al. 2005).

Short day responses require the involvement of phytochrome A (PHYA). Experiments done in black cottonwood (Populus trichocarpa Torr. & Gray) provided evidence that short pulses of red light during the dark cycle completely inhibited bud dormancy, whereas inhibition of dormancy by red light was reversed by pulses of far-red light in a genotypic dependent manner (Howe et al. 1996). Additionally, unlike wild-type, PHYA over-expressing aspens (Populus tremula × Populus tremuloides Michx.) act as though they are in constitutive long day, and do not cease growth, cold harden, nor develop dormant buds under SD conditions (Welling et al. 2002). However, PHYA over-expressing aspens could cold-harden in response to low temperatures just like wild-type. These results suggest that SD induces coldhardening via a pathway different from that of low temperature. However, induction of cold-responsive gene expression by low temperatures was greatly enhanced under short day conditions in wild-type plants (Puhakainen et al. 2004). This phenomenon might partially be explained by a recent study on cold-regulated promoters in arabidopsis indicating a strong correlation among cold-regulated genes and PHYA binding sites (Benedict et al. 2006). These interactions may also explain some of the observed differential responses to low temperature and day length influencing endodormancy in various perennial species (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Interaction of signals impacting dormancy, flowering, and growth. Effects of environmental factors such as long term (LT)- and short term (ST)-cold and long day (LD)- and short day (SD)-length on the expression of proteins such as Phytochrome A (PhyA), VERNALI-ZATION INSENSITIVE3 (VIN3), CONSTANS (CO), FLOWERING LOCUS T (FT), DORMANCY AFFECTING MADSBOX (DAM), FLOWERING LOCUS C (FLC), and on plant hormone abscisic acid (ABA) are shown. These proteins and hormones in turn impact Growth, Flowering and Dormancy. Arrows indicate stimulation of the signal, gene action, or developmental process, and bars indicate inhibition. Cold (ST) and SD both inhibit PhyA action. Inhibition of PhyA in turn down regulates CO then FT thus inhibiting flowering and growth and stimulating dormancy. Likewise, cold (LT) induces VIN3 and blocks expression of DAM/FLC and thus stimulates FT, flowering, growth, and breaks dormancy.

PHYA (and thus SD) also appears to act through or interact with both ethylene and abscisic acid (ABA) signaling pathways. Several papers have noted that loss of ethylene or ABA responsiveness can inhibit some of the physiological responses associated with dormancy induction. When placed in SD conditions, Ruonala *et al.* (2006) noted that ethylene-insensitive birch ceased growth but did not form primary buds. These buds also did not show the characteristic increase in ABA levels or induction of β-xylosidase commonly associated with SD-induced dormancy. Likewise, Rohde *et al.* (2002) determined that ABA-insensitive poplar produced more leaves and less bud scales than ABA-hypersensitive poplar.

Although day length may not play a significant role during paradormancy, there is some evidence that lightregulated responses can negatively impact bud out-growth following loss of auxin transport. In leafy spurge, buds can be released from paradormancy if both polar auxin transport and photosynthesis are inhibited (Horvath 1998 and 1999). The signal produced by photosynthesizing leaves is suspected to be sugar, possibly acting synergistically with ABA signaling. This hypothesis was strengthened by the studies of Chao *et al.* (2006) demonstrating that sugar, ABA, and gibberellic acid (GA) likely interact to regulate paradormancy of leafy spurge underground adventitious buds.

Cold temperatures are known to enhance initiation of endodormancy. However, extended periods of cold result in release of endodormancy (Horvath et al. 2003; Rohde and Bhalerao 2007). Under temperate field conditions, bud growth does not occur immediately following endodormancy release because ecodormancy is maintained by low temperatures. Mechanisms involved in ecodormancy maintenance are unknown, although a role for ABA is suspected (Horvath et al. 2003) (Fig. 1). Endodormancy release and vernalization processes needed for flowering both require extended periods of low temperature, a commonality first noted by Chouard (1960). Horvath et al. (2003) extended this analogy to suggest a role for chromatin remodeling as a possible mechanism to "remember" that dormancy induction occurred, even if the plants are moved to growthinducing conditions. However, Rohde and Bhalerao (2007)



noted that the relative lengths of time needed for vernalization and endodormancy release are often different, and thus the mechanisms may not be identical.

DEVELOPMENTAL SIGNALS

Flowering

Studies have confirmed the link between mechanisms regulating flowering and dormancy in several tree species (reviewed in depth by Rohde and Bhalerao 2007) (Fig. 1). Böhlenius et al. (2006) demonstrated that the constitutive expression of the floral regulator FLOWERING LOCUS T (FT) was sufficient to prevent dormancy induction in poplar. In arabidopsis, FT is positively regulated by day length through the action of PHYA and CONSTANS (CO) and is negatively regulated by FLOWERING LOCUS C (FLC) (He and Amasino 2005; Helliwell et al. 2006). In addition, a putative FLC orthologue identified in poplar (Chen and Coleman 2006) is down-regulated following endodormancy release. There is also evidence in several perennial species that alternative splicing may play a role in the action of this gene (and other FLC-like genes) in response to specific environmental conditions involved in endodormancy release (Chen and Coleman 2006; Horvath unpublished; Bielenberg pers. comm.). Another finding that strongly implicates FLC-like genes in dormancy regulation is that the EVERGROWING mutation in peach, which prevents trees from entering endodormancy in response to SD, is due to deletion of a locus containing a tandem repeat of FLC-like genes (Bielenberg et al. 2004; Li et al. 2006). Several MADS-box transcription factors of the SHORT VEGE-TATIVE PHASE (SVP) family are preferentially up-regulated upon dormancy induction in leafy spurge (Horvath unpublished observations) and down regulated upon dormancy release in raspberry (Rubus idaeus L.) (Mazzitelli et al. 2007). SVP MADS-box transcription factors are known to be regulated by vernalization and have an impact on flowering time in arabidopsis (Michaels et al. 2003).

Senescence

In temperate regions of the world, well-defined phases of dormancy are required to ensure survival during periods of stress that would otherwise result in death. For example, many plants transition from active summer growth into a

Fig. 2 A model for regulation of axillary bud dormancy and outgrowth. IAA derived from the shoot apex moves basipetally in the stem preventing bud outgrowth, while cytokinin (CK) derived from roots and tissues proximal to buds, promote outgrowth. Auxin (IAA) negatively regulates CK biosynthesis by controlling the expression of ADENOSINE PHOSPHATE-ISOPENTENYLTRANSFERASE (IPT). Basipetal auxin efflux also enhances expression of RAMOSUS1 (RMS1) and perhaps MORE AXILLARY GROWTH4 (MAX4) preventing bud outgrowth. Auxin efflux carrier PIN-FORMED (PIN) proteins facilitate basipetal IAA movement in the stem and other tissues. PIN gene expression is regulated by MAX either directly or indirectly (see?) via flavonoids. A mobile feedback signal in pea derived from RAMOSUS2 (RMS2) expression might also feedback regulate RMS1 and IPT. Lines with arrows indicate promotion or up-regulation; lines with bars represent inhibition or down regulation. Red illustrates polar auxin transport/efflux, green cytokinin action, and black shoot multiplication signal (SMS)/ MAX-dependent signal (MDS) pathway of the shoot and root.

period of seasonal dormancy induced by various environmental signals (Horvath *et al.* 2003; Anderson *et al.* 2005; Volaire and Norton 2006). This transition can involve senescence and induction of endo- or ecodormancy in meristematic tissues such as primary, axillary, and adventitious buds required for resumption of growth (Fedoroff 2002; Horvath *et al.* 2003; Anderson *et al.* 2005; Volaire and Norton 2006). The environmental signals required for the onset of senescence generally involve light, drought, and/or temperature extremes, suggesting that changes in phytohormones and phytochrome play important signaling roles (Gribic and Bleecker 1995; Beveridge 2000; Anderson *et al.* 2001; Woo *et al.* 2001; Fedoroff 2002; Stirnberg *et al.* 2002; Horvath *et al.* 2003; Gibson 2005; Snowden *et al.* 2005). Furthermore, these environmental and physiological signals likely affect the C:N ratio, which has also been implicated in signaling the onset of senescence (Gibson 2005).

Biochemical and molecular evidence implicates the ubiquitin pathway in plant senescence, which is thought to involve bulk protein degradation to facilitate nutrient recycling (Belknap and Garbarino 1996). MORE AXILLARY GROWTH (MAX)2/ORESARA (ÓRE)9 is involved in ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis and is a common link in the response to phytohormone-induced leaf senescence and bud outgrowth (Woo et al. 2001; Stirnberg et al. 2002) (Fig. 2). Ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis of Aux/IAA proteins (short lived transcriptional repressors) has been reported to regulate auxin response (Gray 2004). Indeed, a member of the Seven In Absentia (SINA) family of ubiquitin ligases, implicated in auxin signaling, is upregulated during cambial endodormancy in poplar (Schrader et al. 2004). In addition, changes in auxin signaling and transport affecting cambial endodormancy were also linked to the down-regulated expression of *pin-formed1 (PIN1)* and *PIN2* efflux carriers (Schrader et al. 2004). Since these genes affect basipetal polar auxin transport (Fig. 2), these data suggest that auxin transport may play a signaling role in inducing endodormancy. Likewise, a dormancy-associated auxin-repressed (DAAR) gene in underground adventitious buds of leafy spurge was progressively upregulated during fall senescence of shoots, suggesting that a decrease in polar auxin transport could play a role in signaling the transition from para- to endodormancy (Anderson et al. 2005).

PHYSIOLOGICAL SIGNALS

Sugar

Sugars are known to act as signaling molecules that can regulate gene expression during changes in plant development (Koch 1996; Jang 1997; Sheen *et al.* 1999; Ho 2001; Gibson 2005). Pathways responsive to sugar are also known to exhibit cross-talk with numerous other signaling pathways, including those responsive to phytohormones and light (Gibson 2005). Sugar signaling is important for maintaining paradormacy, likely affecting cell cycle progression at the G1/S phase (Anderson *et al.* 2001; Horvath *et al.* 2002; Arora *et al.* 2003; Horvath *et al.* 2003), and is also thought to be involved during the transition of vegetative buds from paradormancy to endodormancy (Arora *et al.* 2003; Anderson *et al.* 2005; Chao *et al.* 2006).

The effects of sugar signaling in regulating well-defined phases of vegetative bud dormancy has been extensively studied using the model perennial weed, leafy spurge. Sugars from leaves of leafy spurge have been linked to suppression of underground adventitious bud growth during paradormancy (Horvath 1999), and further research has shown that glucose or sucrose can inhibit root bud growth in a mechanism reversed by GA (Horvath et al. 2002; Chao et al. 2006). Shoot removal prior to senescence causes a rapid degradation of starch and a decline in sucrose, concurrent with the transition from paradormancy to active shoot growth (Horvath et al. 2002; Chao et al. 2006). In contrast, during fall senescence, conversion of starch to sucrose occurs in leafy spurge underground adventitious buds, which is also paralleled by a transition from paradormancy to endodormancy (Anderson et al. 2005). Additionally, in poplar, genes involved in starch degradation were upregulated in the cambial meristems during endodormancy (Schrader et al. 2004). Based on these and other findings, it is proposed that sugars play an important role in regulating vegetative bud dormancy through cross-talk with phytohormones (Anderson et al. 2001; Horvath et al. 2003; Anderson et al. 2005). Specifically, sugars are antagonistic to GA perception and likely play a role in signaling pathways required for inducing endo- and ecodormancy via enhanced ABA perception.

Abscisic acid

The plant hormone ABA is a C₁₅ sesquiterpenoid derived from cleavage of carotenoids in plastids followed by subsequent conversion steps in the plastid and cytosol (Nambara and Marion-Poll 2005). It is involved in stress responses, abscission, seed dormancy and germination, and vegetative growth, including arrested development or dormancy of vegetative buds (El-Antably et al. 1967; Cline and Choonseok 2006). Research with axillary buds of potato tubers provides evidence that ABA is required for initiation and maintenance of endodormancy (Suttle and Hultstrand 1994). Expression analysis of genes involved in the biosynthesis (9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase; StNCED) and catabolism (cytochrome P450; StCYP707A) of ABA in tubers suggest maintenance of ABA is a balance between biosynthesis and catabolism, with catabolism being favored as dormancy ends (Destefano-Beltrán et al. 2006). Other investigations have revealed that ethylene may lead to increased ABA and prolonged endodormancy (Suttle 1998; Korableva et al. 2002). Likewise, ethylene insensitive mutants of poplar did not accumulate ABA in response to SD as does wild-type (Rounala et al. 2006). Based on these observations, it is likely that ethylene is required for ABA accumulation. ABA is also involved in dormancy induction in other plants with underground vegetative buds. For example, increased ABA levels are correlated with induction of summer dormancy by long days in bulbous bluegrass (Poa bulbosa) (Ofir and Kigel 1998).

Temperate zone woody plants like birch and poplar have annual cycles that tightly regulate bud growth and endodormancy in relation to environmental signals. Induction of apical and lateral bud endodormancy in birch under short day conditions correlates with increased levels of ABA (Rinne *et al.* 1994), and the increased levels preceded endodormancy development (Li *et al.* 2003a). Growth responses of birch to ABA are ecotype and stage of growth dependent, with northern ecotypes being more responsive to exogenously applied ABA than southern ecotypes (Li *et al.* 2003b). In contrast with endodormancy development, release of bud endodormancy by chilling was not correlated with ABA levels in buds (Rinne *et al.* 1997). These results indicate that ABA plays a role in induction but not release of bud endodormancy.

ABA concentrations in primary buds of poplar increased many fold after 24 to 27 days in short day conditions (Rohde et al. 2002). Expression of poplar ABSCISIC ACID-INSENSITIVE3 (PtABI3) in primary buds coincides with increased ABA in autumn. It is thought that PtABI3 acts with ABA by regulating the growth and differentiation of embryonic leaves inside the bud in preparation for endodormancy. Expression of ABSCISIC ACID-INSENSITIVE1 (PtABI1) in buds coincides with that of PtABI3 at the time of growth arrest (Rohde et al. 2002). PtABI1 maps to an interval in the poplar genome containing a bud flush quantitative trait loci (QTL) (Frewen et al. 2000), but it is not know if it represents the underlying gene for this QTL. ABI3 mediates the regulation of ABA-responsive genes in seeds and the shoot apex of arabidopsis, while ABI1 is a negative regulator of ABA signal transduction in seeds. Thus, similarities may exist between some aspects of seed and bud dormancy as they relate to ABA.

Hypotheses to explain the action of auxin on bud paradormancy have invoked ABA as a secondary inhibitor which acts by moving into the bud (Shimizu-Sato and Mori 2001). The auxin response of lateral buds of wild-type and *abi1-1* mutants in arabidopsis were similar, providing evidence that ABA is not acting as a secondary messenger in auxin-mediated inhibition of bud outgrowth (Chatfield *et al.* 2000). Apparently, ABA has an independent role in regulating bud growth and development.

Gibberellic acid

Gibberellic acid alone or in conjunction with other hormones controls numerous aspects of plant growth and development (Fleet and Sun 2005). GA-response pathways involve the feedback regulation of GA biosynthesis. DELLA proteins are thought to play important roles for normal GA response through negative regulation of GA signaling (Fleet and Sun 2005; Gomi and Matsuoka 2003). A downstream component of the GA response is the GA-inducible MYB transcription factor (GAMYB), an activator of α amylase expression (Fleet and Sun 2005). Our knowledge on GA's role in regulating the induction and release of bud dormancy is rudimentary, despite extensive research on plant responses to GA (Razem et al. 2006). In general, GA is involved in two major regulatory roles during dormancy: 1) SD-induced growth cessation in trees and 2) vegetative bud growth following dormancy release.

SD-induced growth cessation in trees

Trees cease growth and set buds in autumn in response to SD in temperate regions. Many lines of research indicate that SD inhibits the biosynthesis of GA before growth cessation occurs. Olsen *et al.* (1995a) found that the amount of active GA₁ and GA₂₀ decreased dramatically in young leaves and stem tissue of bay willow (*Salix pentandra*) seedlings after 2 days of SD exposure. They also found that after 5 days of SD exposure, there was a 50% decrease in the levels of GA₁ in the shoot tip (5-20 mm below apex), which preceded cessation of shoot elongation (Olsen *et al.* 1995b). Application of GA₁ induced shoot elongation under SD, mimicking long day-induced bud growth (Junttila and Jensen 1988). In addition, long day-induced bud break and

growth initiation in bay willow is associated with a rapid transient increase in GA_1 levels in shoot tip (Olsen *et al.* 1997a).

Over-expression of oat *PHYA* in hybrid aspen (*Populus tremula* × *tremuloides*) changed its photoperiodic response such that GA was no longer responsive to SD exposure, suggesting that GAs function downstream of phytochrome in the signaling pathway (Olsen *et al.* 1997b). Although bud set and cold hardiness can be obtained under long daylength conditions in aspen when exposed to low temperature and paclobutrazol, a GA biosynthesis inhibitor, such treatment was unable to induce dormancy (Mølmann *et al.* 2005). These data were taken to suggest separate signaling pathways for bud set/cold acclimation and development of dormancy in trees.

Vegetative bud growth following dormancy release

The exogenous application of GAs released potato tuber endodormancy (Brian et al. 1955; Rappaport et al. 1958). However, endogenous GAs may not regulate the onset of tuber dormancy directly (Suttle 2004), since the endogenous contents of GA1, GA19, and GA20 were similar in tubers exiting dormancy and in those under deep dormancy. Dramatic increases in GA were only observed after sprout growth initiation. Moreover, the pattern of dormancy progression in potato tubers of a wild-type and dwarf mutant was near-identical at all stages of dormancy, despite the absence of detectable GA1 levels in the mutant. Additionally, pretreatment of underground adventitious buds of intact leafy spurge plants with paclobutrazol inhibited bud outgrowth even after shoot removal; exogenous application of GA promoted bud growth. This result implied that GA was synthesized in the buds after decapitation, and accumulation of higher GA levels induced bud growth. Combined, this research suggests that GA plays a role in elongation, but not dormancy release.

Auxin

Auxin plays an important role in almost every aspect of plant development (Leyser 2002). Auxin's role in endodormancy has been described in different plant species. Levels of the auxin indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) decline gradually under SD in parallel with increasing endodormancy in bay willow and silver birch (Olsen *et al.* 1997a; Li *et al.* 2003a). The endogenous levels of IAA are low in endodormant potato tubers and increase in shoot buds prior to the onset of growth (Hemberg 1949; Sorce *et al.* 2000). Additionally, paradormant axillary and underground adventitious buds are inhibited by auxin after growth induction by decapitation (Horvath *et al.* 1999; Cline 2000; Chao *et al.* 2006; Wan *et al.* 2006).

Auxin signaling in paradormancy has been well studied. Different terms such as "release of apical dominance" "bud initiation", "regrowth", "branching", "axillary bud outgrowth", etc. have been used to describe growth induction of lateral buds following release of paradormancy (Cline 1997). Thimann and Skoog (1933) proposed that auxin is synthesized in the primary shoot apex, moves basipetally through the stem, and inhibits the growth of axillary buds. Further research indicated that other phytohormones are also involved in regulating bud outgrowth (Cline 1997; Shimizu-Sato and Mori 2001; Dun et al. 2006). Recently, molecular and genetic approaches have identified many genes involved in regulating branching (Stirnberg et al. 1999; Booker et al. 2005; Foo et al. 2005; Snowden et al. 2005). Multiple overlapping hypotheses have been proposed for the regulatory role of auxin. Auxin acts through secondary messengers, the capacity of auxin transport affects branching, and buds must be competent to respond to these signals (Shimizu-Sato and Mori 2001; McSteen and Leyser 2005; Beveridge 2006; Dun et al. 2006).

Basipetal movement of auxin in the stem influences the

acropetal movement of secondary messengers (McSteen and Leyser 2005; Dun et al. 2006) (Fig. 2). One of these second messengers is cytokinin. Cytokinin is synthesized in the roots and stem and transported into the buds, and is well known to promote bud outgrowth. Auxin inhibits cytokinin synthesis and reduces the amount of cytokinin in the transpiration stream (Eklof et al. 1997; Nordstrom et al. 2004). Another second messenger is the shoot multiplication signal (SMS)/MAX-dependent signal (MDS) (Bennett et al. 2006; Beveridge 2006). SMS is produced in plastids of shoots and roots and inhibits bud outgrowth. Molecular evidence indicated that SMS is a carotenoid derivative (Sorefan et al. 2003; Schwartz et al. 2004). The synthesis of SMS requires carotenoid cleavage dioxygenases DECREASED APICAL DOMINANCE 1 (DAD1) (petunia)/MORE AXILLARY GROWTH (MAX)4 (arabidopsis)/RAMOSUS (RMS)1 (pea) and MAX3/RMS5 (Napoli 1996; Bouvier et al. 2005; McSteen and Leyser 2005; Be-veridge 2006; Dun et al. 2006). In the SMS pathway, MAX1 encodes a class III cytochrome P450 and acts downstream of MAX3/4 (Booker et al. 2005). Decreased auxin transport causes depletion of RMS1 transcript in pea stems (Foo et al. 2005), and exogenous auxin reverses this response (Sorefan et al. 2003). However, expression of MAX4 is not regulated by auxin transport in arabidopsis (Bainbridge et al. 2005). The SMS pathway in pea is also controlled by a long-distance feedback signal through RMS2 which positively regulates the expression of RMS1 transcripts (Morris et al. 2001; Foo et al. 2005; Beveridge 2006) and negatively regulates the abundance of cytokinin content in the xylem sap (Morris et al. 2001; Dodd et al. 2004; Beveridge 2006). RMS4 of pea is homologous to MAX2 of Arabidopsis (Johnson et al. 2006). The leucine-rich repeat F-box MAX2/RMS4 appears to be involved in the perception of SMS (Johnson et al. 2006).

The auxin transport hypothesis emphasizes that bud outgrowth requires auxin export from lateral buds into the basipetal auxin transport stream (McSteen and Leyser 2005; Dun et al. 2006) (Fig. 2). This hypothesis suggests that if auxin transport is at capacity in the primary stem, auxin efflux from axillary buds is inhibited. Excision or blockage of auxin transport from the apical buds allows flow of auxin from axillary buds into the primary stem, activating bud outgrowth. Auxin transport capacity is higher in the primary stem of rms and max mutants compared to wild-type plants, and these mutants have increased branching (Beveridge et al. 2000; Bennett et al. 2006). Bennett et al. (2006) describes that increased auxin transport capacity in stem allows simultaneous flow of auxin from the primary apex and axillary buds into the stem. Auxin transport requires PIN protein efflux carriers (Morris and Johnson 1990). PIN1 protein is known to stimulate efflux of auxin and the SMS pathway down-regulates PIN expression in the stem and inhibits branching (Bennett et al. 2006; Petrášek et al. 2006). Additionally, two hypotheses have been proposed for PIN-dependent auxin transport (Bennett et al. 2006; Lazar and Goodman 2006). Although both postulate that flavonoids are known regulators of PIN-dependent auxin transport, one specifies a MAX1-dependent maintenance of high flavonoid levels (Lazar and Goodman 2006), while the other specifies MAX-dependent expression of PIN that is independent of the flavonoid pathway (Bennett et al. 2006) (Fig. 2).

Ethylene

The ethylene signaling pathway has been well characterized. Ethylene participates in the regulation of multiple physiological and developmental processes in plants including fruit ripening, seed germination, flowering, abscission, senescence, and stress (Bleecker and Kende 2000). This signaling pathway is known to interact with phytohormones and other signals such as glucose and light (Chen *et al.* 2005; Stepanova and Alonso 2005). Many key components of the ethylene signal transduction pathway were identified based on genetic screens of mutant arabidopsis seedlings (Chen et al. 2005). Despite enormous advances in our information on ethylene perception and signaling, the role of ethylene in the development of bud dormancy is not well understood. Nevertheless, ethylene involvement in the development of endodormancy in vegetative buds appears to be important. For example, Suttle (1998) suggested that endogenous ethylene is important for the development of adequate endodormancy in microtubers and the involvement of ethylene is restricted to the initial phase of endodormancy induction. In birch, the ethylene signal facilitates SD-induced terminal bud formation, as well as normal endodormancy development (Ruonala et al. 2006). In addition, ethylene-insensitive trees exhibited bush-like appearance due to reduced apical dominance, suggesting the ethylene signal interacts with ABA and auxin signaling pathways (Ruonala et al. 2006).

Cytokinins

Cytokinins are a class of plant hormones noted for promotion of cell division and organ formation that are invoked as key regulatory signals promoting axillary bud outgrowth when the apical meristem is removed. Direct application of cytokinin to buds of intact plants often induces breaking of paradormancy, and cytokinin levels rise in buds prior to outgrowth (Suttle and Banowetz 2000; Leyser 2003). Root-tip derived cytokinins may be transported to the shoot in intact plants to exert their physiological effect (Bangerth 1994). However, cytokinin synthesized in close proximity to buds in stem tissue plays a key role (Shimizu-Sato and Mori 2001; Tanaka *et al.* 2006), because a rise in cytokinin levels occurs in axillary buds of excised shoots prior to or at the same time as bud outgrowth (Sachs and Thimann 1967).

Various hypotheses exist to explain how cytokinins interact with auxin to regulate bud outgrowth (Bennett et al. 2006; Dun et al. 2006). In pea nodal segments, expression of adenosine phosphate-isopentenltransferase (IPT), a key gene in cytokinin biosynthesis, is induced by removal of the primary bud. Auxin applied exogenously to buds or transported basipetally from the shoot apex represses PsIPT expression in nodal stem tissue (Tanaka et al. 2006). Cytokinin levels increase in nodal stems prior to increasing in axillary buds, suggesting that cytokinins are transported into dormant buds from the adjacent node. Thus, these results suggest that cytokinin biosynthesis is negatively regulated by auxin (Nordstrom et al. 2004). Analysis of the branching control system in rms and max mutants of pea and arabidopsis, respectively, indicates a SMS pathway feedback control system that regulates the supply of cytokinin (Morris et al. 2001; Foo et al. 2005; Beveridge 2006).

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

Sessile organisms like plants are required to constantly monitor changes in the environment and respond with phytohormone changes. Although the structure and function of several hormone receptors are known (Gazzarrini and McCourt 2003; Bishopp et al. 2006), their roles in regulating dormancy have yet to be elucidated. Conservation in gene sequences should allow some of these receptors to be cloned from plants commonly used as models for studying bud dormancy (Cline 2000; Arora et al. 2003; Suttle 2004; Chao et al. 2005; Beveridge 2006; Volaire and Norton 2006). Studies on the regulation of seed and bud dormancy also indicate that growth arrest is partially due to blockage of cell division (Devitt and Stafstrom 1995; Campbell et al. 1996; de Castro and Hilhorst 2000; Shimizu-Sato and Mori 2001; Horvath et al. 2003). Hormones such as ABA, auxin, brassinosteroids, cytokinins, GA, and jasmonic acid and sugar, which regulate dormancy induction and release also regulate cell cycle progression (Anderson *et al.* 2001; Horvath *et al.* 2003; del Pozo *et al.* 2005). Further investigation on hormone receptors regulating dormancy release and cell

division may shed new light on the connections between these signaling networks.

REFERENCES

- Anderson JV, Chao WS, Horvath DP (2001) A current review on the regulation of dormancy in vegetative buds. Weed Science 49, 581-589
- Anderson JV, Gesch RW, Jia Y, Chao WS, Horvath DP (2005) Seasonal shifts in dormancy status, carbohydrate metabolism, and related gene expression in crown buds of leafy spurge. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 28, 1567-1578
- Arora R, Rowland LJ, Tanino K (2003) Induction and release of bud dormancy in woody perennials: a science comes of age. *HortScience* 38, 911-921
- Bainbridge K, Sorefan K, Ward S, Leyser O (2005) Hormonally controlled expression of the Arabidopsis MAX4 shoot branching regulatory gene. The Plant Journal 44, 569-580
- Bangerth F (1994) Response of cytokinin concentration in the xylem exudate of bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) plants to decapitation and auxin treatment, and relationship to apical dominance. *Planta* 194, 439-442
- Belknap WR, Garbarino JE (1996) The role of ubiquitin in the plant senescence and stress responses. *Trends in Plant Science* 1, 331-335
- Benedict C, Geisler M, Trygg J, Huner N, Hurry V (2006) Consensus by democracy. Using meta-analyses of microarray and genomic data to model the cold acclimation signaling pathway in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 141, 1219-1232
- Bennett T, Sieberer T, Willett B, Booker J, Luschnig C, Leyser O (2006) The Arabidopsis MAX pathway controls shoot branching by regulating auxin transport. *Current Biology* 16, 553-563
- Beveridge CA (2000) Long-distance signaling and a mutational analysis of branching in pea. *Plant Growth Regulation* **32**, 193-203
- Beveridge CA (2006) Axillary bud outgrowth: sending a message. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 9, 35-40
- Beveridge CA, Symons GM, Turnbull CGN (2000) Auxin inhibition of decapitation-induced branching is dependent on graft-transmissible signals regulated by genes *rms1* and *rms2*. *Plant Physiology* **123**, 689-697
- Bielenberg DG, Wang Y, Fan S, Reighard GL, Scorza R, Abbott AG (2004) A deletion affecting several gene candidates is present in the evergrowing peach mutant. *Journal of Heredity* **95**, 436-444
- Bishopp A, Mähönen AP, Helariutta Y (2006) Signs of change: hormone receptors that regulate plant development. *Development* 133, 1857-1869
- Bleecker AB, Kende H (2000) Ethylene: a gaseous signal molecule in plants. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology **16**, 1-18
- Böhlenius H, Huang T, Charbonnel-Campaa L, Brunner AM, Jansson S, Strauss SH, Nilsson O (2006) CO/FT regulatory module controls timing of flowering and seasonal growth cessation in trees. *Science* 312, 1040-1043
- Booker J, Sieberer T, Wright W, Williamson L, Willett B, Stirnberg P, Turnbull C, Srinivasan M, Goddard P, Leyser O (2005) MAX1 encodes a cytochrome P450 family member that acts downstream of MAX3/4 to produce a carotenoid-derived branch-inhibiting hormone. Developmental Cell 8, 443-449
- Bouvier F, Isner J, Dogbo O, Camara B (2005) Oxidative tailoring of carotenoids: a prospect towards novel functions in plants. *Trends in Plant Science* 10, 187-194
- Brian PW, HG Hemming, M Radley (1955) A physiological comparison of gibberellic acid with some auxins. *Physiologia Plantarum* 8, 899-912
- Campbell MA, Suttle JC, Sell TW (1996) Changes in cell cycle status and expression of p34cdc2 kinase during potato tuber meristem dormancy. *Physiologia Plantarum* 98, 743-752
- Chao WS, Horvath DP, Anderson JV, Foley ME (2005) Potential model weeds to study genomics, ecology, and physiology in the 21st century. Weed Science 53, 929-937
- Chao WS, Serpe MD, Anderson JV, Gesch RW, Horvath DP (2006) Sugars, hormones, and environment affect the dormancy status in underground adventitious buds of leafy spurge (*Euphorbia esula*). Weed Science **54**, 59-68
- Chatfield SP, Stirnberg P, Forde BG, Leyser O (2000) The hormonal regulation of axillary bud growth in *Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal* 24, 159-169
- Chen KY, Coleman GD (2006) TypeII MADS-box genes associated with poplar apical bud development and dormancy. Abstract presented at American Society of Plant Biologists Meeting, Boston, MA (USA), August 5-9, 2006. Available online: http://abstracts.aspb.org/pb2006/public/PO3/P03015.html
- Chen YF, Etheridge N, Schaller GE (2005) Ethylene signal transduction. Annals of Botany 95, 901-915
- Chouard P (1960) Vernalization and its relations to dormancy. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 11, 191-238
- Cline MG (1997) Concepts and terminology of apical dominance. American Journal of Botany 84, 1064-1069
- Cline MG (2000) Execution of the auxin replacement apical dominance experiment in temperate woody species. *American Journal of Botany* 87, 182-190
- Cline MG, Choonseok OH (2006) A reappraisal of the role of abscisic acid and its interaction with auxin in apical dominance. *Annals of Botany* **98**, 891-897
- de Castro RD, Hilhorst HWM (2000) Dormancy, germination and the cell cycle in developing and imbibing tomato seeds. *Revista Brasileira de Fisiologia Vegetal* 12, 105-136

- del Pozo JC, Lopez-Matas MA, Ramirez-Parra E, Gutierrez C (2005) Hormonal control of the plant cell cycle. *Physiologia Plantarum* 123, 173-183
- Destefano-Beltrán L, Knauber D, Huckle L, Suttle JC (2006) Effects of postharvest storage and dormancy status on ABA content, metabolism, and expression of genes involved in ABA biosynthesis and metabolism in potato tuber tissues. *Plant Molecular Biology* **61**, 687-697
- Devitt ML, Stafstrom JP (1995) Cell cycle regulation during growth-dormancy cycles in pea axillary buds. *Plant Molecular Biology* 29, 255-265
- Dodd IC, Ngo C, Turnbull CGN, Beveridge CA (2004) Effects of nitrogen supply on xylem cytokinin delivery, transpiration and leaf expansion of pea genotypes differing in xylem-cytokinin concentration. *Functional Plant Biology* 31, 903-911
- Dun EA, Ferguson BJ, Beveridge CA (2006) Apical dominance and shoot branching. Divergent opinions or divergent mechanisms? *Plant Physiology* 142, 812-819
- Eklof S, Astot C, Blackwell J, Moritz T, Olsson O, Sandberg G (1997) Auxin-cytokinin interactions in wild-type and transgenic tobacco. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 38, 225-235
- El-Antably MM, Wareing PF, Hillman J (1967) Some physiological responses to d,l abscisin (dormin). *Planta* **73**, 74-90
- Fedoroff N (2002) Cross-talk in abscisic acid signaling. Sci. STKE RE10. Available online: http://stke.sciencemag.org/
- Fleet CM, Sun TP (2005) A DELLAcate balance: the role of gibberellin in plant morphogenesis. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* **8**, 77-85
- Foo E, Buillier E, Goussot M, Foucher F, Rameau C, Beveridge CA (2005) The branching gene RAMOSUS1 mediates interactions among two novel signals and auxin in pea. The Plant Cell 17, 464-474
- Frewen BE, Chen THH, Howe GT, Davis J, Rohde A, Boerjan W, Bradshow Jr. HD (2000) Quantitative trait loci and candidate gene mapping of bud set and bud flush in *Populus. Genetics* 154, 837-845
- Gazzarrini S, McCourt P (2003) Cross-talk in plant hormone signalling: what Arabidopsis mutants are telling us. *Annals of Botany* **91**, 605-612
- Gibson S (2005) Control of plant development and gene expression by sugar signaling. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 8, 93-102
- Gomi K, Matsuoka M (2003) Gibberellin signalling pathway. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 6, 489-493
- Gray WM (2004) Hormonal regulation of plant growth and development. *PLoSBiology* 2, e311. Available online: http://www.mindfully.org/Heritage/2004/Hormonal-Plant-Regulation14sep04.htm
- Gribic V, Bleecker AB (1995) Ethylene regulates the timing of leaf senescence in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Journal* 8, 595-602
- He Y, Amasino RM (2005) Role of chromatin modification in flowering-time control. *Trends in Plant Science* 10, 30-35
- Heide OM (2001) Photoperiodic control of dormancy in *Sedum telephium* and some other herbaceous perennial plants. *Physiologia Plantarum* 113, 332-337
- Helliwell CA, Wood CC, Robertson M, James Peacock W, Dennis ES (2006) The Arabidopsis FLC protein interacts directly *in vivo* with SOC1 and FT chromatin and is part of a high-molecular-weight protein complex. *The Plant Journal* **46**, 183-192
- Hemberg T (1949) Significance of growth-inhibiting substances and auxins for the rest-period of the potato tuber. *Physiologia Plantarum* 2, 24-36
- Ho SH, Chao YC, Tong WF, Yu SM (2001) Sugar coordinately and differenttially regulates growth- and stress-related gene expression via a complex signal transduction network and multiple control mechanisms. *Plant Physiology* 125, 877-890
- Horvath DP (1999) Role of mature leaves in inhibition of root bud growth in Euphorbia esula L. Weed Science 47, 544-550
- Horvath DP (1998) The role of specific plant organs and polar auxin transport in correlative inhibition of leafy spurge (*Euphorbia esula*) root buds. *Canadian Journal of Botany* **76**, 1227-1231
- Horvath DP, Anderson JV, Chao WS, Foley ME (2003) Knowing when to grow: signals regulating bud dormancy. *Trends in Plant Science* 8, 534-540
- Horvath DP, Chao WS, Anderson JV (2002) Molecular analysis of signals controlling dormancy and growth in underground adventitious buds of leafy spurge (*Euphorbia esula L.*). *Plant Physiology* **128**, 1439-1446
- Howe GT, Hackett WP, Furnier GR, Klevorn RE (1995) Photoperiodic responses of a northern and southern ecotype of black cottonwood. *Physiologia Plantarum* 93, 695-708
- Howe GT, Gardner G, Hackett WP, Furnier GR (1996) Phytochrome control of short-day-induced bud set in black cottonwood. *Physiologia Plantarum* 97, 95-103
- Jang CJ, Leon P, Zhou L, Sheen J (1997) Hexokinase as a sugar sensor in higher plants. *Plant Cell* 9, 5-19
- Jeknić Z, Chen THH (1999) Changes in protein profiles of poplar tissues during the induction of bud dormancy by short-day photoperiods. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 40, 25-35
- Johnson X, Breich T, Dun EA, Goussot M, Haurogne K, Beveridge CA, Rameau C (2006) Branching genes are conserved across species. Genes controlling a novel signal in pea are coregulated by other long-distance signals. *Plant Physiology* 142, 1014-1026
- Junttila O, Jensen E (1988) Gibberellins and photoperiodic control of shoot elongation in Salix. Physiologia Plantarum 74, 371-376

- Koch KE (1996) Carbohydrate-modulated gene expression in plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 47, 509-540
- Korableva NP, Platonova TA, Dogonadze MZ, Evsunina AS (2002) Brassinolide effect on growth of apical meristems, ethylene production, and abscisic acid content in potato tubers. *Biologia Plantarum* 45, 39-43
- Kwolek VA, Woolhouse HW (1982) Studies on the dormancy of Calluna vulgaris (L.) hull, during winter: The effect of photoperiod and temperature on the induction of dormancy and the annual cycle of development. Annals of Botany 49, 367-376
- Lang GA, Early JD, Martin GC, Darnell RL (1987) Endo-, para-, and ecodormancy: physiological terminology and classification for dormancy research. *HortScience* 22, 371-377
- Lazar G, Goodman HM (2006) MAX1, a regulator of the flavonoid pathway, controls vegetative axillary bud outgrowth in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103, 472-476
- Leyser O (2002) Molecular genetics of auxin signaling. Annual Review of Plant Biology 53, 377-398
- Leyser O (2003) Regulation of shoot branching by auxin. Trends in Plant Science 8, 541-545
- Li C, Junttila O, Ernstsen A, Heino P, Palva ET (2003a) Photoperiodic control of growth, cold acclimation and dormancy development in silver birch (*Betula pendula*) ecotypes. *Physiologia Plantarum* **117**, 206-212
- Li C, Junttila O, Heino P, Palva ET (2003b) Different responses of northern and southern ecotypes of *Betula pendula* to exogenous ABA applications. *Tree Physiology* 23, 481-487
- Li C, Viherä-Aarnio A, Puhakainen T, Junttila O, Heino P, Palva ET (2004) Ecotype-dependent control of growth, dormancy and freezing tolerance under seasonal changes in *Betula pendula* Roth. *Trees - Structure and Function* 17, 127-132
- Li C, Wu N, Liu S (2005) Development of freezing tolerance in different altitudinal ecotypes of Salix paraplesia. Biologia Plantarum 49, 65-71
- Li Z, Reighand GL, Bielenberg DG (2006) The peach evg locus contains a cluster of six MADS-box genes with tissue specific expression patterns. Abstract presented at American Society of Plant Biologists Meeting, Boston, MA (USA), August 5-9, 2006. Available online: http://abstracts.aspb.org/pb2006/ public/P03/P03011.html
- Mazzitelli L, Hancock RD, Haupt S, Walker PG, Pont SDA, McNicol J, Cardle L, Morris J, Viola R, Brennan R, Hedley PE, Taylor MA (2007) Co-ordinated gene expression during phases of dormancy release in raspberry (*Rubus idaeus* L.) buds. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 58, 1035-1045
- McSteen P, Leyser O (2006) Shoot Branching. Annual Review of Plant Biology 56, 353-374
- Michaels SD, Ditta G, Gustafson-Brown C, Pelaz S, Yanofsky M, Amasino RM (2003) AGL24 acts as a promoter of flowering in Arabidopsis and is positively regulated by vernalization. *The Plant Journal* 33, 867-874
- Mølmann JA, Asante DKA, Jensen JB, Krane MN, Ernstsen A, Junttila O, Olsen JE (2005) Low night temperature and inhibition of gibberellin biosynthesis override phytochrome action and induce bud set and cold acclimation, but not dormancy in *PHYA* overexpressors and wild-type of hybrid aspen. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 28, 1579-1588
- Morris DA, Johnson CF (1990) The role of auxin effux carriers in the reversible loss of polar auxin transport in the pea (*Pisum sativum* 1.) stem. *Planta* 181, 117-124
- Morris SE, Turnbull CGN, Murfet IC, Beveridge CA (2001) Mutational analysis of branching in pea. Evidence that *rms1* and *rms5* regulate the same novel signal. *Plant Physiology* 126, 1205-1213
- Nambara E, Marion-Poll A (2005) Abscisic acid biosynthesis and catabolism. Annual Review of Plant Biology 56, 165-185
- Napoli C (1996) Highly branched phenotype of the petunia dadl-1 mutant is reversed by grafting. Plant Physiology 111, 27-37
- Nordstrom A, Tarkowski P, Tarkowska D, Norbaek R, Astot C, Dolezal K, Sandberg G (2004) Auxin regulation of cytokinin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis thaliana: a factor of potential importance for auxincytokinin-regulated development. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 101, 8039-8044
- Ofir M, Kigel J (1998) Abscisic acid involvement in the induction of summerdormancy in *Poa bulbosa*, a grass geophyte. *Physiologia Plantarum* 102, 163-170
- Olsen JE, Jensen E, Junttila O, Moritz T (1995a) Photoperiodic control of endogenous gibberellins in seedlings of Salix pentandra. Physiologia Plantarum 93, 639-644
- Olsen JE, Junttila O, Moritz T (1995b) A localized decrease of GA1 in shoot tips of *Salix pentandra* seedlings precedes cessation of shoot elongation under short photoperiod. *Physiologia Plantarum* 95, 627-632
- **Olsen JE, Junttila O, Moritz T** (1997a) Long-day induced bud break in *Salix pentadra* is associated with transiently elevated levels of GA₁. *Plant and Cell Physiology* **38**, 536-540
- Olsen JE, Junttila O, Nilsen J, Eriksson ME, Martinussen I, Olsson O, Sandberg G, Moritz T (1997b) Ectopic expression of oat phytochrome A in hybrid aspen changes critical daylength for growth and prevents cold acclimatization. *The Plant Journal* **12**, 1339-1350
- Petrášek J, Mravec J, Bouchard R, Blakeslee JJ, Abas M, Seifertová D, Wisniewska J, Tadele Z, Kubes M, Covanová M, Dhonukshe P, Skupa P,

Benková E, Perry L, Krecek P, Lee OR, Fink GR, Geisler M, Murphy AS, Luschnig C, Zazímalová E, Friml J (2006) PIN proteins perform a rate-limiting function in cellular auxin efflux. *Science* **312**, 914-918

- Puhakainen T, Li C, Boije-Malm M, Kangasjärvi J, Heino P, Palva ET (2004) Short-day potentiation of low temperature-induced gene expression of a C-repeat-binding factor-controlled gene during cold acclimation in silver birch. *Plant Physiology* **136**, 4299-4307
- Rappaport L, Timm H, Lippert LF (1958) Gibberellin on white potatoes applied to freshly harvested, resting potato tubers, or used in preharvest foliar sprays, gibberellin promotes sprouting. *California Agriculture* 12, 4-5
- Razem FA, Baron K, Hill RD (2006) Turning on gibberellin and abscisic acid signaling. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 9, 454-459
- Rinne P, Hanninen H, Kaikuranta P, Jalonen JE, Repo T (1997) Freezing exposure releases bud dormancy in *Betula pubescens* and *B. pendula. Plant Cell and Environment* **20**, 1199-1204
- Rinne P, Saarelainen A, Junttila O (1994) Growth cessation and bud dormancy in relation to ABA level in seedlings and coppice shoots of *Betula pubescens* as affected by a short photoperiod, water stress and chilling. *Physiologia Plantarum* 90, 451-458
- Rohde A, Bhalerao RP (2007) Plant dormancy in the perennial context. Trends in Plant Science 12, 217-223
- Rohde A, Prinsen E, de Rycke R, Engler G, van Montagu M, Boerjan W (2002) PtABI3 impinges on the growth and differentiation of embryonic leaves during bud set in poplar. *Plant Cell* **14**, 1885-1901
- Ruonala R, Rinne PLH, Baghour M, Moritz T, Tuominen H, Kangasjärvi J (2006) Transitions in the functioning of the shoot apical meristem in birch (*Betula pendula*) involve ethylene. *The Plant Journal* **46**, 628-640
- Sachs T, Thimann KV (1967) The role of auxins and cytokinins in the release of buds from dominance. *American Journal of Botany* 54, 136-144
- Schrader J, Moyle R, Bhalerao R, Hertzberg M, Lundeberg J, Nilsson P, Bhalerao RP (2004) Cambial meristem dormancy in trees involves extensive remodeling of the transcriptome. *The Plant Journal* **40**, 173-187
- Schwartz SH, Qin X, Loewen MC (2004) The biochemical characterization of two carotenoid cleavage enzymes from Arabidopsis indicates that a carotenoid-derived compound inhibits lateral branching. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 46940-46945
- Sheen J, Zhou L, Jang JC (1999) Sugars as signaling molecules. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 2, 410-418
- Shimizu-Sato S, Mori H (2001) Control in outgrowth and dormancy in axillary buds. *Plant Physiology* 127, 1405-1413
- Smithberg MH, Weiser CJ (1968) Patterns of variation among climatic races of red-osier dogwood. *Ecology* 49, 495-505
- Snowden KC, Simkin AJ, Janssen BJ, Templeton KR, Loucas HM, Simons JL, Karunairetnam S, Gleave AP, Clark DG, Klee HJ (2005) The Decreased apical dominance1/Petunia hybrida CAROTENOID CLEAVAGE DIOXYGENASE8 gene affects branch production and plays a role in leaf

senescence, root growth, and flower development. *The Plant Cell* **17**, 746-759 **Sorce C, Lorenzi R, Ceccarelli N, Ranalli P** (2000) Changes in free and conjugated IAA during dormancy and sprouting of potato tubers. *Australian Jour-*

- nal of Plant Physiology 27, 371-377 Sorefan K, Booker J, Haurogne K, Goussot M, Bainbridge K, Foo E, Chatfield S, Ward S, Beveridge C, Rameau C, Leyser O (2003) Max4 and rms1 are orthologous dioxygenase-like genes that regulate shoot branching in Arabidopsis and pea. Genes and Development 17, 1469-1474
- Stepanova AN, Alonso JM (2005) Ethylene signalling and response pathway: a unique signalling cascade with a multitude of inputs and outputs. *Physiologia Plantarum* 123, 195-206
- Stirnberg P, Chatfeld SP, Leyser HM (1999) AXR1 acts after lateral bud formation to inhibit lateral bud growth in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology 121, 839-847
- Stirnberg P, van de Sande K, Leyser HMO (2002) MAX1 and MAX2 control shoot lateral branching in Arabidopsis. Development 128, 1131-1141
- Suttle JC (1998) Involvement of ethylene in potato microtuber dormancy. *Plant Physiology* **118**, 843-848
- Suttle JC (2004) Physiological regulation of potato tuber dormancy. American Journal of Potato Research 81, 253-262
- Suttle JC, Banowetz GM (2000) Changes in *cis*-zeatin and *cis*-zeatin riboside levels and biological activity during potato tuber dormancy. *Physiologia Plantarum* 109, 68-74
- Suttle JC, Hultstrand JF (1994) Role of endogenous abscisic acid in potato microtuber dormancy. *Plant Physiology* 105, 891-896
- Tanaka M, Takei K, Kojima M, Sakakibara H, Mori H (2006) Auxin controls local cytokinin biosynthesis in the nodal stem in apical dominance. *The Plant Journal* 45, 1028-1036
- Thimann K, Skoog F (1933) Studies on the growth hormone of plants. III: the inhibitory action of the growth substance on bud development. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **19**, 714-716
- Volaire F, Norton M (2006) Summer dormancy in perennial temperate grasses. Annals of Botany 98, 927-933
- Wake CMF, Fennell A (2000) Morphological, physiological and dormancy responses of three *Vitis* genotypes to short photoperiod. *Physiologia Plantarum* 109, 203-210
- Wan X, Landhausser SM, Lieffers VJ, Zwiazek JJ (2006) Signals controlling root suckering and adventitious shoot formation in aspen (*Populus tremuloides*). Tree Physiology 26, 681-687
- Welling A, Moritz T, Palva ET, Junttila O (2002) Independent activation of cold acclimation by low temperature and short photoperiod in hybrid aspen. *Plant Physiology* 129, 1633-1641
- Woo HR, Chung KM, Park JH, Oh SA, Ahn T, Hong SH, Jang SK, Nam HG (2001) ORE9, and F-box protein that regulates leaf senescence in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Cell* 13, 1779-1790